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Aiken County Sheriff ?  The State of South Carolina

Brad Wertz __ County of Aiken

Law Enforcement Case #: 13-018638

s COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
ARREST WARRANT NUMBER - ? OCTOBER TERM 2013
%.013A0210200353 o f —_—
"THE STATE
: VS.
» — — FRANK MUNS
ACTION OF GRAND JURY
I EUE [S1es |
CDR #: 3410
Foreperson of Grand Jury ~ - B
__Date: October 3, 2013 Indictment for

o

% ERDICT
ATTEMPTED MURDER.

§ 16-03-0029(A)

o SN THURMOND, SOLICITOR
Foreperson of Petit Jury S STROMTHU

Date:




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA INDICTMENT FOR
ATTEMPTED MURDER

COUNTY OF AIKEN

§ 16-03-0029(A)

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on October 7, 2013, the Grand Jurors

of Aiken County present upon their oath:

That FRANK MUNS did in Aiken on or about April 6, 2013, feloniously, wilfully
and with malice aforethought, attempt to murder Kim Turner by means of shooting the
victim in the side with a firearm. All in violation of Section 16-3-29 of the South Carolina

Code of Laws (1976), as amended.

Against the péace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case made and

(TR

J. STROM THURMOND, SOLICITOR

provided.




S,Zi‘{’\':ﬁE‘?C%ZSO‘UTl-l CAROLINA ) GENERAL SESSIONS O
- - L
* COUNTY OF Aiken ; : go
_S’,FA']‘E' ‘ VS, ') INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2013GS0201657
. _Frank Muns ) AW 2013A0210200353
AKA: ) Date ol Offense: 4/6/2013
Race:  White ___‘__‘Scx: M L Age: 48 ) S.C..Code §: 16-03-0029(A)
vos: (5SS ) CDRCode# 3410
Address: )
City.State,Zip:  Beech Island, SC 29842 ) NCE SHE
DL#: . 1 SID#- SC00363657 ) : SENTENCE SHEET
*CDL Yes[ ] No[] CMV Yes[] No[_] Hazmat Yes{] No[’]
In disposition of the said indictument comes now-the Defendant who was [X] CONVICTEDOF or {TJPLEADS
TO: Murder ! Attempted Murder :
in violation of & 16-03-0029(A) of the S.C. Code of Laws. bearing CDR Code # 3410
[[] NON-VIOLENT [X] VIOLENT []JSERIOUS | [XIMOST SERIOUS ["IMandatory GPS(CSC [1817-25-45
' w/minor Ist or Lewd Act)
‘The ciunj_gc is: [X] As Indicted,  [JLesser Included Otfense. [ Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. {defendant’s initials)
The plea is: m\VHhout Nwotlatlons or Recommendation, [] Negotiated Sentence, ecommendation by the State.
Sheftall, Virginia Lauren \ SC Bar#. Defendant Al%x’n?y forw
WHEREFORE, the Deferidant is commited to the tate Départment of Corrections, [7] County Detention Center,
for a.determinate term of 5/(11ysfmcrm s/yedr [] under the: Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/orto pay a fineof$ ] ; provide that upon the service of days/months/years and/or payment
of § . plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which-are incorporated by reference,

7] CONCURRENT or [[] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: ;
[M~The Defendant is 16 be given credit for-time sérved pursuant to S.C. Code £ 24-13-40 to be calculated and appliéd
by the State Department of Corrections. '

177 “The Defendant is to'be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse.and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code 317 ‘ 1"51

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25- 2()“ nal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm.or ammunition. .

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[TIRESTITUTION:  [7] Deferred [T] Def. Waives Hearing  ~[_] Ordered.  PTUP
Total:  § __ plus 20% fee: $
Payment Tcrms: ' Obtain GE'D r[
[] Sctby SCDPPPS ' Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp:
ST : ‘May serve W/E begining
Recipient:™_- = : - . Substance Abuse Counseling ... % L
*Fine: $ ‘Random Drug/Alcohol testing. "= & .
§ 14-1-2006 (Assessments 107.5 %). % ’\_ Finc may.be pd. in cqual, Lom% ‘ "
§ 14=1-211(A) 1y (Conv. Surcharge) $100 $ 0000 pints. of § bcﬁ’nh 5
g 19-12211(A)2) (DUT Surcharge) S100 $ ) S 1z
) 56-3-29935 (DU Assessmient) $12 S 15
§ 56-1-286 (DUL Breath Test) $25 S Other: 18-
Proviso 47.9(Public¢ Det/Prob) 500§ -
§ [4-1-212 (Law Enloree. Funding) $23 '«;”““;75:.’5”5
g 14-1-213 (Drug Count Surcharge) $150 (3
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath ‘Test Fee) S50 S
§ 56-3-2942(J) (Vchicle Assessment) $40/ca § [T] Appointed PD or appointed other codnsél,
Proviso 90.3 (SCCIA Surcharge) $5 $ L 00 §47 12 requires $500°be paid to.Clerk
3%+0 County  (if paid in installments) $ 3.9p during probation.
FOTAL S 1R3.90D

| . W/
. B Presiding Judge .
Clerk ol Courty Deputy Clerk ' Judee Code: (_//7 PP
g L, e Al Deddm 24— 3 ge Code: -

Court Reporter: 4 Sentence Date: %bé EQ/&‘{’

SCCA2IT(03/2011) .
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INDICTMENT FOR
| ) POSSESSION OF A FIREARM DURING THE
COUNTY OF AIKEN ) COMMISSION OF OR ATTEMPT TO COMMIT
~ ) A VIOLENT CRIME
§ 16-23-0490

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on October 7, 2013, the Grand Jurors

of Aiken County present upon their oath:

That FRANK MUNS did in Aiken County on or about April 6, 2013, possess or
visibly display a firearm during the commission or attempted commission of a violent
crime, to wit: Attempted Murder, all in violation of Section 16-23-490, Code of Laws of

South Carolina (1976), as amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case made and

Eligaleht £ //Ew%
J. ST@ﬁM THURMOND,@ICITOR 0

provided.
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by the State Department of Corrections.

[l The Deféndant is to be placcd on the Central Rcorsnv of Child Abusc and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §17
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
COUNTY OF AIKEN ;
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 3
Plaintiff ;

vs, )

FRANK MUNS, SR. )
Defendant §

IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
FOR THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Indictment Number; 2013-GS-02-01664

VERDICT FORM

As to the offense of Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of or Attempt to
Commit a Violent Crime, we the Jury find the Defendant

s

. Not Guilty

/ Guilty

WE UNANIMOUSLY AGREE.

February 6 _, 2014

ZMV S Opfm

Foreperson

et e S o ————



State of South Carolina
Court of General Sessions
County of Aiken

State

Transcript of Record
2013-G5-02-01657
_2013-GS-02-01664
Frank Muns

Defendant.

February 4-5, 2014
Aiken, South Carolina

BEFORE:

The Honorable Doyet Early, Judge; and a jury.

APPEARANCTES:

Virginia Sheftall, Assist. Sclicitor
Attorney for the State

Jeffrey "Jay" Slocum, Jr., Assist. Solicitor
Attorney for the State

Michael Routzong, Assist. Public Defender
Attorney for the Defendant

Bethanie K. Patterson
Circuit Court Reporter



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

(The fdllowing proceedings were held February
4-6, 2014.)

THE COURT: The State may call its next case.

MS. SHEFTALL: Thank you, Your Honor.

The State calls the State of South Carolina vs.
Frank Muns. It is a true-billed indictment for
attempted murder, 2013-GS-02-01657, and a
true—bilied indictment foi possession of a fire
during the commis;ion of a vioclent crime, Indictment
No. 2013-GS-02-01664. |

THE COURT: Thank you, ma'am.

All the defendant is present, represented by
Mr. Routzong.

All right. Ladies and gentlemen, the State has
called for trial a case for attempted murder and
possession of a firearm during the commission of or
attempt to commit a violent crime. Mr. Muns, the
defehdant, has pled not guilty to both of these
indictments. A plea of not guilty gives him the
constitutional protection of being presumed innocent
unless the State is able to prove his guilt to you
beyond a reasonable doubt. k

Mr. Muns, if you would please stand and face
the jury panel.

(The defendant stands and faces the jury

9
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given in this case, so help you God.

THE COURT: Please’say, I do.

THE JURY (collectively): I do.

(Jury is sworn.)

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, let me give
you just a few opening remarks before we tell you
where we're going and how we're going to get there.
First ofvall; let me remind’'you that the fact that
the defendant -- Mr. Muns has been indicted for
attempted murder and a possession of a weapon during
the commission of or an attempt to commit a violent
crime. Please bear in mind that this indictment is
simply the charging document by way this case comes
into the courtroom. He has pled not guilty_to the
indictments, and obviously by pleading not guilty,

he has the constitutional presumption of inhocence

unless the Stqﬁe is able to prove their case to you

beyond a reasonable doubt. And we will discuss what
reasonable doubt means and all of that at the
conclusion of the case.

| Now, the way the case proceeds is because the
State has the burden of proof, they will present
their witnesses first. And the State will conduct a
direct examination of the witness, asking them

questions about the events. The defense attorney

10
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has the right to cross-examine those witnesses.

- Once the State has completed their case and

presented all of the witnésses, then the defendant,
has the right, if he chooses, to present his own
defense, and then the defendant would call the
witnesses, they would directly examine them and the
State could then cross-examine those witnesses.

Sometimes after the defense's case has been put
up, the State would ha%e-a right to reply to
anything. That rarely happens and I doubt it would
happen in this case, but if it does, it's Jjust a
very short witness to reply to something. That
would be all of the testimony.

Before the testimony starts, the State and the
defendant have the right to make an opening
statement. And that is not evidence in the case,
that's simply the lawyers' -- what they want to tell
you to look for, sort of their game.plan as to how
they're going to try the case. It's a roadmap of
where they're going from A to Z. But that is not
evidence in éhe case, it's simply the lawyers'
explanation to you as to what to listen to and ﬁhat
the case is about.

After all of the testimony has been completed,

then the lawyers will then give you their final

11



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

+ 25

arguments. And the arguments at the end of the
case, that, too, is not evidence in the case; that's
simply them arguing their side of the case. Once
the lawyers have completed their arguments, then I
will give you a charge or an instruction on the law
in the case dealing with general constitutional
policiés and general definitions dealing with
reasonable doubt and credibility of witnesses and
presumption of innocence and that sort of thing, and
then I would go in specifically to the elements
dealing with these two indictments, attempted murder
and possession of a weapon during the commission or
the attempt to commit a violent crime. So that's
sort of how the trial will flow.

I suspect that if we don't finish today, we

will certainly finish tomorrow. We plan to go today
until 12:30 or so. We'll break for lunch about an
hour and half and then go til about 5:00 this
afternoon depending on where we are in the case.
And if .we have to come back tomorrow, then obviously
we will get started about 9:30. But we'll just sort
of see how we're running as the day goes on and try
to accommodate everyone as possible.

As I told you yesterday, my job is —-— I'm the

judge of the law in the case. So I give you the law

12
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and you have to accept the law as I give it to you.
If you come into the courtroom with some
preconceived idea about what the law is or what it
should be and it doesn't agree with what I tell you,
please set aside your preconceived ideas and accept
the law as I give it to you. I give you the law as
it currently stands in the state of South Carolina.
My other job is to rule on the admissibility of
evidence. The lawyers have to ask the questions and
present evidence that comply with our rules of
evidence and our rules of criminal procedure. Once
that evidence is admitted into the trial of the
case -- and the evidence from one witness may be one
thing and the next witness may be a different thing,
but it's ali admitted into the trial of the case --
then that's where your job comes in. You are the
judges of the facts, as I told you yesterday, and
what you do by that is you have to sit and listen
and judge and determine what the true facts are in
the case. You judge the credibility or the
believability of the witnesses who testify in the
case. It's a job you do on a daily basis dealing
with wives,‘husbands, children, employees,
employers. You know how to tell when someone is

telling the truth.

13
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Once all of .the evidence is in and you
determine what those frue facts are, you take those
facts and apply’it to4the law as I éive it to you,
then you'll be in a position to render a verdict.

I try to run an efficiént courtroom. We

‘started right on time this morning and we'll keep

the lawyers moving. But I'm not trying to run a
race, so if at any time during the trial of the case
you become uncomfortable, you need to use the
restroom, you just get tired of sitting, get tired
of listening to me, whatever, you get hot, cold,
please raise your hand and I'll make sure your needs
are met. We will take a morning break and then
break for lunch, take an afternoon break. The
breaks won't be that long because we want to keep
the trial ﬁoving.

I will ask that at the first break, I need a
foreperson, the foreperson from the regular jurors,
not the alternates. And I would ask that the 12 of
y'all select a foreperson who is simply someone who
acts as‘a spokesman or spokeswoman for the jury and
you head up the deliberations at the conclusion. I
will ask that you do not start deliberating or
talking about thercase, discussing the case, doing

anything about the case while you're in the jury

14
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room until all of the evidence has been presented
and the final arguments have been made and I've
instructed you on the léw. So you can talk about
anythinglyou want to back there,lbut don't talk
about the case until it's time to start
deliberating.

So we're going to start right now with opening
statements. 'Any objections to my opening remarks by
the State?

MS. SHEFTALL: Nothing from the State, You:
Honor.

THE COURT: By the Defense?

MR. ROUTZONG: No, sif.

THE COURT: Okay. I look forward to working
with you. Like I said, if anything -- if you get
uncomfortable, you can't hear, you get cold, you get
hot, any problem, raise your hand. Thank you.

All right. Ms. Sheftall?

MS. SHEFTALL: Thank you, Your Honor. May it
please the Coﬁrt.

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. SHEFTALL: Ladies and gentlémen of the
jury, good morning; The case you;re about to hear
this morning isn't one of those who-done-it

‘

mysteries like Matlock or the CSI shows, or any show.
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on television for that mattef. These are real
évents that happened to real people. And we know
who done it. And this isn't a love story either,‘at
least not the kind that I expect you're used to
hearing where everyone lives happily ever after. -

The case.you're going to hear today is about
Kim Turner, the victim, and how she was shot'at
pointblank range in the ribcage while she was in the
driver's seat of her car, by that man, Frank Muns,
the defendant, a man that Ms. Turner has known for
34 years. He is her ex-husband and he is the father
of her four children. Fortunately, Ms. Turner
survived the incident and she's here téday to tell
you her story. You're going to hear what happened
to her on Saturday, April 6th, 2013, shortly before
noon, 11:45 in the morning.

Now, you're going to hear parts of_the State's
case from different people; you're going to hear
from a woman named Lisa Mason, she called 911;
you're going to hear from the EMT, his name was
Aaron Lemaster, and he was in the ambulance that
took Ms. Turner from where 911 was calléd to MCG,
Georgia Regents University Hospital in Augusta;
you're going to hear from Investigator Brad Wertz

with the Aiken County Sheriff's Office, you're going
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to hear about how he conducted his investigation,
what conclusions he reached and why. And, like I
said, you're going to hear from Ms. Turner. She's
going to tell you what she was doing that morning, -
the events leading up to the shooting, what caused
her fo be at 107 Beard Road that morning and
everything in between. You're going hear about a
tense encounter between Ms. Turner and the defendant
that happened at the 107 Beard Road, at our incident
location, in the moments leading up to the shooting.

Ms. Turner is going to tell you about her
injuries that she sustained that day, she's going to
tell you how she left the hospital two days later
with a bullet still lodged in her rib and how later,
months ‘later, it was removed and why, the impact it
had on her, and how it was a constant reminder of
what happened pq her every day in between.

Generally that's what the State's case in chief is
going to -- you're going to hear from us this
morning.

Now I need to talk to you a little bit about
evidenée. There's two main types; there's direct
evidence and there's circumstantial evidence. We'll
start withldirect evidence. Direct evidence would

be Ms. Turner's testimony. She was there. She's
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going to tell you what she personally experienced,
what she saw, what she heard, what she felt. The
other type of evidence, circumstantial evidence, is
a little bit more difficult to explain, but I'll try
two different ways. You're going to hear from '
Investigator Wertz, like I said, and Mr. Lemaster,
the EMT. Neither of them were present when the -shot
was fired, but based on what they saw and heard and
experienced after that, they can testify, you can
infer a conclusion from what they saw and
experienced after the fact.

Another way to explain it is this: The 14 of
you right now are sitting in a windowléss room. You
cannot know for certain, you cannot directiy hear,
see, feel, smell, experience what the weather is
doing outside,right now. But let's say that that
back door opens and three people walk in, two of
them have umbrellas and they're wet, and the third
guy doesn't have an ﬁmbrella and his clothes are
wet, his hair is wet, his shoes are wet. None of
you can sit heré and directly know for certain what
the weather is doing outside, but based on those’
three people, the logical conclusion, the reasonable
conclusion, is that it's raining outside. Thét's

circumstantial evidence. It's an inference. It's
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the logical conclusion, the reasonable conclusion,
from what you can experience and see.

The burden of proof is the next thing I want to
talk. to you about. And you're going tq hear that
phrase a lot today. The burden of proof is on the
State, on myself and my’co—counsel. The burden is

beyond a reasonable doubt. All of those words in

that phrase are important. It is not beyond all

doubt. There are very few things in this world that
we know with absolute certainty, so a burden of
absolute certainty is not placed on the State. It
is a burden to convince you, -to firmly convince you,
to convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that the
events happened as the State alleges they did.

As Judge Early just said and as he said to allA
of you yesterday, there are two judges in this
courtroom. Judge Early is the judge of'the law.
What he says the law is, you have to accept that as
the truth. The 12 of you, when you begin your
deliberations'and throughout the course Qf this
trial, are the judges of the facts. And what that
means is, your job, collectively, to have a
unanimous decision ail together as one is to
detérmine credibility, to find out who you believe}

what you believe, what you know to be true, what you
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believe to be true. And that might sound like a
difficult task, but you do that every day, we all do
that every day. You know how to tell if someone is
telling you the truth or if they're lying. We do it
with spouses, parents, children, coworkers,
strangers we meet on the street. You know how to
tell if someone is telling the ﬁruth or lying. And
that's your job, that is your only job.

So as Judge Eariy said and as I just said, he's
the judge of the law. So if something that I say
conflicts with what he says about the law, go with
him. But generally I want to give you the elements
of what Mr. Muns ié chérged with so you can listen
for facts that go along with those throughout the
course of the trial. \

He's charged with attempted murder. AFtempted
murder is an attempt tovkill another person with the
intent to kill them; with the mental status to kill
them, the mental state to kill them, with malice
aforethought. 'And I'm going to talk to you a lot
more about what those -- intent and malice and what
those words mean and where you can find that
information in the facts in closing. But I just

wanted to give you a roadmap, as Judge Early said,

so that you know where we're going throughout the
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Because it's not murder, because it's attempted
murder that the defendant is charged with, the State
has to prove to you a general intent in the
defendant's mind. Rather than a specific intent to
kill her, we need to prove to you only a general
intent that he intended to harm her with éreat
bodily injury, not specifically kill her. But we'll
go into that a lot more in closing.'

The second thing that Mr. Muns is charged with
is possession of a weapon Quring the commission of a
violent crime. What you'll be asked to do with that
is you will need to determine whether you are firmly
convinced, whether you're convinced beyohd a
reasonable doubt, that he had a weapon in his
possession during the events on April 6th, 2013.

As I told you, you—all are the judges of the

i

facts, you-all are here with your common sense this

.morhing. I expect when you came through security

downstairs you may have had to gheck your keys, your
wallet, your cell phone, your belt, maybe even your
shoes, but you didn't check your common sense. I
ask that you keep it with you, I ask that you listen
to everything £hrough the lens of your common sense

this morning, I ask that when you go back to that
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jury room and deliberate that you use your common
sense to determine who you believe. And at the end
of this trial, at the end of your deliberations, I
ask that you return a verdict of guilty for
attempted murder and possession of a weapon during
the commission of a violent crime. Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Routzong?

MR. ROUTZONG: May it please the Court.

Good mdrning, ladies and gentlemen. My name is
Michael Routzong. I'm a defense attorney with the
Aiken Bar. There are times when I am constréined to
agree Qith thé State, and this morning is one of
those times. She's right; this is not a love story.
On the other hand, that doesn't mean it's a hate
story. Your job here today is to listen to all of
these witnesses. You have to listen the State's
witnesses and I believe you'll be hearing from
Mr. Muns, and you're going t? be evaluating the
credibility ofveverything that everybody testifies
to. His Honor is right, what I say is just my spin
on it, what they say is just théir spin on it.
You're here to look at the evidence, and that's all
you're here for,'and to speak the truth, speak a
verdict -- give a verdict that speak s the truth.

One of things that I need to tell you is that

22



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
" 20
21
22
23
24

.25

36

while you're sitting righf here right now, you have
to presume that Mr. Muns is innocent. 'Whét does
that mean? Well, if you are sitting there presuming
that Mr. Muns is innocent, that means the State's
case 1is wrong, they got it all wrong, he's innécent.
That's the way you have to view all of this evidence
for the entire cése until you guys go back there,
the Judgé gives you your charges and he lets you go
back there and you start talkiné about it. And all
the way through that discussion you have to be thefe
with the presumption that they're wrong as you're

looking at this evidence because that's what it

“means to presume somebody is innocent. And then

when all of you are ready collectively and you come
to a decision, then you render the verdict. Until
that moment, he's presumed innocent, they'?e wrong.
If you don‘t‘do that, ladies and gentlemen, you've
broken your oath. You've taken an oath to do just
that. That's how our justice system works. That's
what Mr. Muns deserves, that's what the State
deserves.

This case is one -- it's kind of like
Ms. Sheftall said: There aré only two people who
were present when this happened. There's no NASA

photographs, there's no satellite, no known
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photographs; you've got to go by what two people

say, you've got to give both of them a chance. She

says you're allowed to infer what may be the case

from the evidence that's presented. That's true.
But you can't look at that as an invitation to just
rubber-stamp whatever the State says is going on
because, remember, you've got to presume they're
wrong.

A couple things'aren't in dispute: Ms. Turner
got hit by a bullet and Mr. Muns had the gun in his
hand. That's not in dispute this morning. The
question is, why did it happen? How did it happen?
That's what you're here to determine. Please listen
to all of the evidence. Please assume that they're
wrong all the way through your deliberations and all
the way through this trial today. Thank you.

THE COURT: You may call your first witness.

MR. SLOCUM: Thank yéu, Your Honor.

The State calls Lisa Mason to the stand.

LISA MASON

being first duly sworn, testified as follows:

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE CLERK: Have a seat in the witness box
stating your full name and spelling your last for

the Court, please.
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THE WITNESS: Lisa Mason, M-A-S-O-N.
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. SLOCUM:
Q. Ms. Ma